TRI-S SECURITY CORP Form DEF 14A November 24, 2008 **Table of Contents**

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant "

Filed by the Registrant x Check the appropriate box: Preliminary Proxy Statement Confidential for Use of Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2)) **Definitive Proxy Statement** Х **Definitive Additional Materials** Soliciting Material Pursuant to § 240.14a-12

Tri-S Security Corporation

(Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter)

$(Name\ of\ Person(s)\ Filing\ Proxy\ Statement,\ if\ other\ than\ the\ Registrant)$

Pay	Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):									
X	No f	See required.								
" Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.										
	(1)	Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:								
	(2)	Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:								
	(3)	Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):								
	(4)	Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:								
	(5)	Total fee paid:								

Fee paid previously with preliminary materials.
Check box if any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fe was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.
(1) Amount previously paid:
(2) Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
(3) Filing Party:
(4) Date Filed:

TRI-S SECURITY CORPORATION

Royal Centre One

11675 Great Oaks Way, Suite 120

Alpharetta, Georgia 30022

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

To Be Held On December 19, 2008

To the Shareholders of Tri-S Security Corporation:

Notice is hereby given that the Annual Meeting of Shareholders (together with any adjournments or postponements thereof, the Meeting) of Tri-S Security Corporation, a Georgia corporation (the Company), will be held at 10:00 a.m., local time, on Friday, December 19, 2008, at the Company s corporate offices, located at Royal Centre One, 11675 Great Oaks Way, Suite 120, Alpharetta, Georgia 30022, for the purpose of considering and voting upon the following matters:

- (1) to elect two Class III directors for a three-year term of office;
- (2) to ratify the appointment of Habif, Arogeti & Wynne, LLP as the Company s independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2008;
- (3) to approve an amendment to the Company s 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated; and
- (4) to transact such other business as may properly come before the Meeting.

 These items are more fully described in the attached Proxy Statement, which is hereby made a part of this Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders. The Board of Directors of the Company has fixed the close of business on November 14, 2008, as the record date (the Record Date) for the determination of shareholders entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Meeting. Only those shareholders of record as of the close of business on the Record Date are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Meeting or at any adjournment or postponement thereof.

A copy of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 and Amendment No. 1 thereto on Form 10-K/A (as so amended, the Annual Report) are enclosed. The Annual Report is not a part of the proxy soliciting material enclosed with this Notice.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Ronald G. Farrell Chairman of the Board

Atlanta, Georgia

November 24, 2008

WHETHER OR NOT YOU EXPECT TO ATTEND THE MEETING, PLEASE COMPLETE, DATE, SIGN AND RETURN THE ENCLOSED PROXY CARD AS PROMPTLY AS POSSIBLE IN ORDER TO ENSURE YOUR REPRESENTATION AT THE MEETING. A RETURN

ENVELOPE (WHICH IS POSTAGE-PREPAID IF MAILED IN THE UNITED STATES) IS ENCLOSED FOR THAT PURPOSE. EVEN IF YOU HAVE GIVEN YOUR PROXY, YOU MAY REVOKE OR CHANGE YOUR PROXY FOR ANY REASON AT ANY TIME BEFORE THE VOTING BY DELIVERING TO THE COMPANY A WRITTEN NOTICE OF REVOCATION OR A DULY EXECUTED PROXY BEARING A LATER DATE OR BY ATTENDING THE MEETING AND VOTING IN PERSON. PLEASE NOTE, HOWEVER, THAT IF YOUR SHARES ARE HELD OF RECORD BY A BROKER, BANK OR OTHER NOMINEE AND YOU WISH TO VOTE AT THE MEETING, THEN YOU MUST BRING TO THE MEETING A LETTER FROM THE BROKER, BANK OR OTHER NOMINEE CONFIRMING YOUR BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF THE SHARES. ADDITIONALLY, IN ORDER TO VOTE AT THE MEETING, YOU MUST OBTAIN FROM THE RECORD HOLDER A PROXY ISSUED IN YOUR NAME.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
INFORMATION CONCERNING SOLICITATION AND VOTING	1
General Control of the Control of th	1
Solicitation of Proxies	1
Voting Rights and Outstanding Shares	1
Quorum and Vote Required	1
Revocability of Proxies	2
Voting Agreement	2
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND BOARD MATTERS	3
Board of Directors	3
Director Independence	3
Code of Ethics and Conduct	3
Board Committees	4
Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings	4
Nominating Process for Directors	4
Communications With Directors	5
Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons	5
PROPOSAL 1: ELECTION OF CLASS III DIRECTORS	5
Nominees for Election as Class III Directors	5
Vote Required to Elect Nominees	6
Recommendation of the Board of Directors	6
Directors Continuing Service	6
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	7
Executive Officers	7
Summary Compensation Table	8
Outstanding Equity Awards At 2007 Fiscal Year-End	8
Employment Agreements and Post-Termination Payments	9
Director Compensation	11
PROPOSAL 2: RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	12
Overview	12
Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants	12
Fees and Services	13
Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Auditors	13
Vote Required to Ratify Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	14
Recommendation of the Board of Directors	14
AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT	14
PROPOSAL 3: AMENDMENT TO 2004 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN, AS AMENDED AND RESTATED	16
Introduction	16
The Amendments to the Incentive Plan	16
Summary of the Incentive Plan As Proposed to be Amended	17

-i-

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

	Page
United States Federal Income Tax Consequences	22
Equity Compensation Plan Information	25
Vote Required to Approve Amendment to Incentive Plan	26
Recommendation of the Board of Directors	26
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT	26
SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE	27
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS	28
Director Designation Agreement	28
Employment Agreements	28
Indebtedness of Management	28
Indemnification Agreements	28
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	28
Annual Report	28
Other Matters	29
Shareholder Proposals	29
APPENDIX A CHARTER FOR THE COMPENSATION COMMITTEE	A-1
APPENDIX R 2004 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN AS AMENDED AND RESTATED (as proposed to be amended)	R.1

PROXY STATEMENT

ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS OF

TRI-S SECURITY CORPORATION

INFORMATION CONCERNING SOLICITATION AND VOTING

General

This Proxy Statement (the Proxy Statement) and the accompanying form of proxy are being furnished to the shareholders of Tri-S Security Corporation, a Georgia corporation (the Company), in connection with the solicitation of proxies by and on behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company (the Board) from holders of the Company s outstanding common stock, \$0.001 par value per share (the Common Stock), for use at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company (together with any adjournments or postponements thereof, the Meeting) to be held at 10:00 a.m., local time, on Friday, December 19, 2008, at the Company s corporate offices, located at Royal Centre One, 11675 Great Oaks Way, Suite 120, Alpharetta, Georgia 30022. This Proxy Statement, the accompanying form of proxy, the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 and Amendment No. 1 thereto on Form 10-K/A (as amended, the Annual Report) are expected to be mailed to shareholders of record of the Company on or about November 26, 2008.

Solicitation of Proxies

The Company will bear the costs of printing and mailing this Proxy Statement, as well as all other costs incurred on behalf of the Board in connection with its solicitation of proxies from the Company s shareholders. Directors, officers and employees of the Company may solicit proxies by mail, personal interview, telephone or other means without additional compensation therefor. Arrangements also will be made with brokerage houses, voting trustees, banks, associations and other custodians, nominees and fiduciaries, who are record holders of the Common Stock not beneficially owned by them, for forwarding such solicitation materials to, and obtaining proxies from, the beneficial owners of such Common Stock entitled to vote at the Meeting. The Company will reimburse these persons for their reasonable expenses incurred in doing so.

Voting Rights and Outstanding Shares

Only shareholders of record as of the close of business on November 14, 2008 (the Record Date) are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Meeting. As of the Record Date, there were 4,203,280 shares of Common Stock outstanding and entitled to vote at the Meeting, held by approximately 13 holders of record. On each proposal considered at the Meeting, each shareholder of Common Stock is entitled to cast one vote per common share held as of the Record Date.

Quorum and Vote Required

A quorum of the Company s shareholders is necessary to transact business at the Meeting. The presence at the Meeting, in person or by proxy, of shares of Common Stock representing a majority of the shares of Common Stock outstanding and entitled to vote as of the Record Date will constitute a quorum for transacting business at the Meeting. Abstentions and broker-non votes, discussed below, count as present for establishing a quorum.

1

Table of Contents

Provided a quorum is present at the Meeting, (i) directors will be elected by a plurality of the votes cast, meaning that the two Class III director nominees receiving the most votes will be elected as Class III directors; and (ii) each of the other proposals will be approved if the votes cast favoring such proposal exceed the votes cast opposing such proposal. If a quorum is not present at the Meeting, then it is expected that the Meeting will be adjourned or postponed to solicit additional proxies.

All votes will be tabulated by the inspector of elections appointed for the Meeting, who will separately tabulate affirmative and negative votes, abstentions and broker non-votes. Abstentions will be counted for purposes of determining both the presence or absence of a quorum for the transaction of business and the total number of votes cast with respect to a particular matter. Broker non-votes will be counted for purposes of determining the presence or absence of a quorum for the transaction of business but will not be counted for purposes of determining the votes cast as to any particular proposal on which the broker has expressly not voted. Broker non-votes are proxies from brokers or nominees indicating that those persons have not received instructions from the beneficial owners as to certain proposals on which the beneficial owners are entitled to vote their shares but with respect to which the brokers or nominees have no discretionary voting power to vote without instructions. With respect to the proposal to elect two Class III directors, abstentions, broker non-votes and instructions to withhold authority to vote for the nominee will result in the nominees receiving fewer votes. With respect to all other proposals presented at the Meeting, abstentions and broker non-votes will have no effect on such proposals.

Revocability of Proxies

The shares of Common Stock represented by proxy will be voted as instructed if received in time for the Meeting. If no instructions are indicated, then such shares will be voted in favor of (FOR): (i) the election of the two Class III director nominees specified herein; (ii) the ratification of the appointment of Habif, Arogeti & Wynne, LLP (HA&W) as the Company's independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2008; (iii) the amendment to the Company's 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (the Incentive Plan); and (iv) in the discretion of the proxy holder, any other matter that may properly come before the Meeting. Any person signing and mailing a proxy solicited by this Proxy Statement may, nevertheless, revoke it at any time before it is exercised by sending to the Company's Corporate Secretary a written revocation notice or a new, duly executed proxy bearing a later date or by attending in person and voting at the Meeting. Attendance at the Meeting, however, will not itself constitute the revocation of such a proxy.

Voting Agreement

On September 13, 2007, the Company entered into a Settlement Agreement and General Release (the Settlement Agreement), among the Company, Paragon Systems, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (Paragon Systems), and Ronald G. Farrell, the Company s Chief Executive Officer, on the one hand, and Charles Keathley, Robert Luther, John Wilson and Harold Bright, on the other hand (collectively, the Selling Shareholders), with respect to all of the litigation pending among the Company, Paragon Systems, Mr. Farrell and the Selling Shareholders. Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, the Company, among other things, issued to the Selling Shareholders an aggregate of 665,000 shares of Common Stock, and the Selling Shareholders granted to Mr. Farrell an irrevocable proxy (the Voting Agreement) to vote, in his sole and absolute discretion, an aggregate of 700,000 shares of Common Stock held by them until such time as such shares are sold by them to an unaffiliated third-party in accordance with the terms of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act). As a result of the irrevocable proxy granted to Mr. Farrell pursuant to the Voting Agreement and the other shares of Common Stock beneficially owned by Mr. Farrell, Mr. Farrell directs the voting of 1,508,750 shares of Common Stock or approximately 36% of the shares of Common Stock outstanding as of the Record Date and entitled to vote at the Meeting. Mr. Farrell has indicated to the Company that he intends to vote all such shares in favor of (FOR): (i) the election of the two Class III director nominees specified herein;

2

Table of Contents

(ii) the ratification of the appointment of HA&W as the Company s independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2008; (iii) the amendment to the Incentive Plan; and (iv) in the sole and absolute discretion of Mr. Farrell, any other matter that may properly come before the Meeting.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND BOARD MATTERS

Board of Directors

The business affairs of the Company are managed under the direction of the Board in accordance with the Georgia Business Corporation Code, as implemented by the Company s Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws. The role of the Board is to effectively govern the affairs of the Company for the benefit of its shareholders and other constituencies. The Board strives to ensure the success and continuity of business through the election of qualified management. It is also responsible for ensuring that the Company s activities are conducted in a responsible and ethical manner. The Company is committed to having sound corporate governance principles.

The Company has a classified Board currently consisting of one Class I director (James M. Logsdon), one Class II director (James A. Verbrugge), and two Class III directors (Lee K. Toole and Ronald G. Farrell). The Class III directors currently serve until the Meeting, and the Class I and Class II directors currently serve until the Company s annual meetings of shareholders to be held in 2009 and 2010, respectively. After the Meeting, the Class I, Class II and Class III directors will serve until the Company s annual meetings of shareholders to be held in 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively, and until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified or until their earlier retirement, resignation, death or removal.

At each of the Company s annual meeting of shareholders, directors are duly elected for a full term of three years to succeed those whose terms are expiring. Vacancies on the Board and newly-created directorships can generally be filled by a vote of a majority of the directors then in office.

At the meeting, shareholders are being asked to re-elect Messrs. Toole and Farrell to serve as Class III directors until the Company s 2011 annual meeting of shareholders and until their successors are duly elected and qualified or until their earlier retirement, resignation, death or removal. Proxies cannot be voted at the meeting for a greater number of persons than the number of nominees named in this Proxy Statement.

Director Independence

The Board has determined that three of the four members of the Board Messrs. Logsdon and Toole and Dr. Verbrugge are independent as defined for purposes of the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and the listing standards of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (the Nasdaq). For a director to be considered independent, the Board must determine that the director does not have a relationship with the Company that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. In making this determination, the Board considers all relevant facts and circumstances, including any transaction or relationship between the director and the Company or its subsidiaries.

Code of Ethics and Conduct

The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics and Conduct that applies to all of the Company s directors and employees, including the Company s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. The Company will provide to any person without charge, upon request, a copy of the Code of Ethics and Conduct. Such requests should be directed to the Company s Corporate Secretary at Royal Centre One, 11675 Great Oaks Way, Suite 120, Alpharetta, Georgia 30022.

3

Board Committees

The Board has established a compensation committee (the Compensation Committee) and an audit committee (the Audit Committee). The Audit Committee has been established in accordance with Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act). The Board has not established a separate committee of its members to nominate candidates for election as directors.

The Compensation Committee is comprised of three directors, Messrs. Logsdon and Toole and Dr. Verbrugge, with Mr. Toole serving as the chairperson. None of the members of the Compensation Committee is a current or former employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. The primary duties of the Compensation Committee are to oversee, establish and administer the Company s executive compensation program; administer the Incentive Plan; evaluate the performance of the Company s executive offices; and approve all compensation decisions for such officers. The Compensation Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board effective as of October 13, 2004, a copy of which is set forth as *Appendix A* to this Proxy Statement.

The Audit Committee is comprised of three directors, Messrs. Logsdon and Toole and Dr. Verbrugge, with Dr. Verbrugge serving as the chairman. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a current or former employee of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. The Audit Committee represents the Board in discharging its responsibility relating to the accounting, reporting and financial practices of the Company and its subsidiaries. Its primary duties include monitoring the integrity of the Company s financial statements and system of internal controls and the Company s compliance with regulatory and legal requirements; monitoring the independence, qualifications and performance of the Company s independent registered public accounting firm and internal auditing services; and providing an avenue of communication among the Company s independent registered public accounting firm, management, internal audit and the Board. The Audit Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board effective as of October 13, 2004, a copy of which was set forth as *Appendix A* to the Company s proxy statement for its 2006 annual meeting of shareholders. Additional information regarding the Audit Committee s activities is provided in the section of this Proxy Statement titled Audit Committee Report.

The Board has determined that the Audit Committee s chairperson, Dr. Verbrugge, is an audit committee financial expert , as such term is defined in Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K. Dr. Verbrugge meets the independence requirements of the Nasdaq listing standards. Pursuant to the regulations of the SEC, a person who is determined to be an audit committee financial expert will not be deemed an expert for any purpose, including, without limitation, for purposes of Section 11 of the Securities Act, as a result of being designated or identified as an audit committee financial expert. Furthermore, the designation or identification of a person as an audit committee financial expert does not impose on such person any duties, obligations or liability that are greater than the duties, obligations and liability imposed on such person as a member of the Audit Committee or the Board in the absence of such designation or identification. Moreover, the designation or identification of a person as an audit committee financial expert does not affect the duties, obligations or liability of any other member of the Audit Committee or the Board.

Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings

The Board, the Compensation Committee and the Audit Committee each held five meetings in the year ended December 31, 2007. All directors attended at least 75% of the Board and committee meetings on which such director served during the year ended December 31, 2007. Although the Company has no formal policy with respect to Board members attendance at the Company s annual meeting of shareholders, it is customary for all Board members to attend. All of the members of the Board attended the Company s 2007 annual meeting of shareholders.

Nominating Process for Directors

The Company does not have a nominating committee and, accordingly, does not have a nominating committee charter. The Board has adopted resolutions which require that the independent directors on the Board, where independence is determined by the rules and regulations of the SEC and the Nasdaq (the Independent Directors), identify candidates for election to the Board and recommend to the full Board such candidates for nomination for election to the Board. Messrs. Logsdon and Toole and Dr. Verbrugge are the Independent Directors currently serving on the Board. The Board believes that establishing a separate nominating committee is not necessary because the Independent Directors perform substantially similar functions as a separately-designated nominating committee would perform.

Pursuant to Section 2.05 of the Company s Bylaws, only persons who are selected and recommended by the Board or the committee of the Board designated to make nominations, or who are nominated by shareholders in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 2.05, shall be eligible for election, or qualified to serve, as directors. Nominations of individuals for election to the Board at any annual meeting or any special meeting of shareholders at which directors are to be elected may be made by any shareholder of the Company entitled to vote for the election of directors at that meeting by compliance with the procedures set forth in Section 2.05. Nominations by shareholders shall be made by written notice (a Nomination Notice), which shall set forth (i) as to each individual nominated, (a) the name, date of birth, business address and residence address of such individual, (b) the business experience during the past five years of such nominee, including his or her principal

occupations and employment during such period, the name and principal business of any corporation or other organization in which such occupations and employment were carried on, and such other information as to the nature of his or her responsibilities and level of professional competence as may be sufficient to permit assessment of his or her prior business experience, (c) whether the nominee is or has ever been at any time a director, officer or owner of 5% or more of any class of capital stock, partnership interests or other equity interest of any corporation, partnership or other entity, (d) any directorships held by such nominee in any company with a class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act or subject to the requirements of Section 15(d) of such act or any company registered as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, and (e) whether such nominee has ever been convicted in a criminal proceeding or has ever been subject to a judgment, order, finding or decree of any federal, state or other governmental entity, concerning any violation of federal, state or other law, or any proceeding in bankruptcy, which conviction, order, finding, decree or proceeding may be material to an evaluation of the ability or integrity of the nominee; and (ii) as to the person submitting the Nomination Notice and any person acting in concert with such person, (x) the name and business address of such person, (y) the name and address of such person as they appear on the Company s books (if they so appear), and (z) the class and number of shares of the Company s stock that are beneficially owned by such person. A written consent to being named in a proxy statement as a nominee, and to serve as a director if elected, signed by the nominee, shall be filed with any Nomination Notice. If the presiding officer at any shareholders meeting determines that a nomination was not made in accordance with the procedures prescribed by the Company s bylaws, such officer shall so declare to the meeting and the defective nomination shall be disregarded. Nomination Notices shall be delivered to the Company s Corporate Secretary at the principal executive office of the Company (i) within 120 days prior to an annual meeting of shareholders or (ii) within 10 days after the date that notice of a special meeting is sent to shareholders.

Table of Contents

The Independent Directors and the Board have not established any specific, minimum qualifications that must be met by a nominee identified by the Independent Directors and nominated by the Board. When seeking to identify an individual to become a director, the Independent Directors generally consider, among other factors, the background and reputation of potential candidates in terms of character, personal and professional integrity, business and financial experience and acumen, how a person would complement the other directors in providing a diversity of expertise and experience and a person savailability to devote sufficient time to Board duties. The director nominees for election as Class III directors at the Meeting were identified by the Independent Directors and nominated by the Board based on the foregoing factors, among other things.

Assuming the appropriate background material is provided for candidates submitted by shareholders, the process generally followed by the Independent Directors to identify and evaluate candidates described above will be used to evaluate candidates submitted by shareholders and the Independent Directors will apply substantially the same criteria.

Communications With Directors

Shareholders may communicate with the Board or any individual director by sending a letter to the Company at Royal Centre One, 11675 Great Oaks Way, Suite 120, Alpharetta, Georgia 30022, addressed to the Board or any individual director. The Company s Corporate Secretary will receive the correspondence and forward it to the Chairman of the Board or to any individual director or directors to whom the communication is directed. The Company s Corporate Secretary is authorized to review, sort and summarize all communications received prior to their presentation to the Chairman of the Board or to whomever director(s) the communication is addressed. If such communications are not a proper matter for Board attention, such individuals are authorized to direct such communication to the appropriate department. For example, shareholder requests for materials or information will be directed to the appropriate investor relations personnel.

Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons

It is an unwritten policy and practice of the Board, which is not otherwise evidenced, that all transactions which would be required to be reported pursuant to Item 404(a) of Regulation S-K must be reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee before the Company enters into any such transaction.

PROPOSAL 1:

ELECTION OF CLASS III DIRECTORS

Nominees for Election as Class III Directors

Upon recommendation of the Independent Directors, the Board has nominated Messrs. Farrell and Toole for re-election as Class III directors at the Meeting. If re-elected at the Meeting to serve as Class III directors, Messrs. Farrell and Toole will serve as Class III directors until the Company s annual meeting of shareholders to be held in 2011 and until their successors are duly elected and qualified or until their early retirement, resignation, death or removal.

Proxies cannot be voted at the Meeting for a greater number of persons than the number of nominees named. Unless otherwise directed, the persons named as proxies and attorneys in the enclosed form of proxy intend to vote (**FOR**) the election of Messrs. Farrell and Toole as Class III directors for the ensuing term. If either Messrs. Farrell or Toole for any reason should not be available as a candidate for

5

Table of Contents

director, then votes will be cast pursuant to authority granted by the enclosed proxy for such other candidate or candidates as may be nominated by the Board. The Board has not been informed by Messrs. Farrell or Toole that they are unable to serve as directors or will decline to serve as directors, if elected.

Set forth below is certain information, as of the Record Date, for the Class III director nominees, Messrs. Farrell and Toole. This information is based on information furnished to the Company by Messrs. Farrell and Toole.

Ronald G. Farrell, age 65, has served as the Company s Chief Executive Officer and President since the Company s formation in October 2001 and as a Class III director of the Company since the Company s initial public offering in February 2005. He also served as the Company s sole director from October 2001 to February 2005. From December 1998 to December 2001, Mr. Farrell served as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Golf Entertainment, Inc. At various times from 1986 through 1998, Mr. Farrell founded and served as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Computer Integration Corporation, Sports Leisure, Inc., Automotive Industries, Inc. and Builders Design, Inc.

Lee K. Toole, age 72, has served as a Class III director of the Company and a member of the Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee since the Company s initial public offering in February 2005. Mr. Toole founded Toole Consulting Corporation in 1997, which provides consulting services to Lucent Technologies, Inc. and GTE Corporation, among other clients. Mr. Toole retired in 1997 as a senior vice president of GTE Corporation, concluding a 36 year career in the telecommunications industry. During his career, which included 15 years with AT&T, Inc., Mr. Toole served in various executive capacities, including President of GTE China, Senior Vice President Asia Pacific, Vice President Business Development worldwide for wireless networks, and Chairman of the Board of Directors of a joint venture in Argentina which built a nationwide wireless network.

Vote Required to Elect Nominees

A plurality of the votes present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote at the Meeting is required for the election of Messrs. Farrell and Toole as Class III directors.

Recommendation of the Board of Directors

The Board unanimously recommends that the shareholders vote in favor of **(FOR)** Messrs. Farrell and Toole for election as Class III directors. Proxies will be voted **FOR** the election of those nominees unless otherwise specified.

Directors Continuing Service

The following sets forth information, as of the Record Date, for all other directors of the Company whose terms of office will continue after the Meeting.

Dr. James A. Verbrugge, age 68, has served as a Class II director of the Company and as a member of the Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee since the Company s initial public offering in February 2005. Dr. Verbrugge is Emeritus Professor of Finance in the Terry College of Business at the University of Georgia. From 1976 to 2001, he served as the Chairman of the Department of Banking and Finance in the Terry College of Business, where he held the Chair of Banking from 1992 to 2002.

6

Table of Contents

James M. Logsdon, age 61, has served as a Class I director of the Company and a member of the Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee since the Company s initial public offering in February 2005. Mr. Logsdon is a consultant with The Logsdon Group, which Mr. Logsdon founded in March 2004. The Logsdon Group provides tactical and strategic consulting services to business organizations. He served as President, Chief Operating Officer and a director of Verso Technologies, Inc., a publicly-held technology corporation, from January 2000 until March 2004. From January 1998 to January 2000, Mr. Logsdon served as Vice President and General Manager of Branch Operations East for the Network Services division of GTE Corporation, a global telecommunications corporation. From January 1991 to December 1997, he served as GTE s Vice President, Sales & Marketing Commercial Markets.

There are no family relationships among any of the executive officers or directors of the Company. No arrangement or understanding exists between any director and any other person pursuant to which any director was selected to serve as a director. To the best of the Company s knowledge, (i) there are no material proceedings to which any director of the Company is a party, or has a material interest, adverse to the Company; and (ii) there have been no events under any bankruptcy act, no criminal proceedings and no judgments or injunctions that are material to the evaluation of the ability or integrity of any of the directors during the past five years.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Executive Officers

Executive officers of the Company are elected or appointed annually by the Board, serve at the discretion of the Board and hold office until their successors are elected and qualified or until their earlier retirement, death, resignation or removal, subject to the terms of applicable employment agreements. The following table sets forth the name of each executive officer of the Company, the office held by such officer and the age, as of the Record Date, of such officer:

Name	Age	Position
Ronald G. Farrell	65	Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer, President and Secretary
Nicolas V. Chater ⁽¹⁾	55	Chief Financial Officer

(1) Nicolas Chater has served as the Company s Chief Financial Officer since November 2007. From July 2004 through October 2007, Mr. Chater served as the Executive Vice President and Deputy Chief Financial Officer of HomeBanc Corp. and the Chief Financial Officer of HBMC. From 1996 until December 2003, Mr. Chater served as the Chief Financial Officer of various subsidiaries of Cap Gemini Ernst & Young.

Certain additional information concerning Mr. Farrell is set forth in the section of this Proxy Statement titled Proposal I: Election of Class III Directors Nominees for Election as Class III Directors.

7

Summary Compensation Table

The following table and footnotes discuss the compensation paid to, earned by or accrued by the Company s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and the Company s other most highly compensated executive officers whose total compensation exceeding \$100,000 (collectively, the Named Executive Officers) during the year ended December 31, 2007.

Name and Principal Position	Year	Salary	Bonus	Option Awards ⁽¹⁾	All Other Compensation	Total
Ronald G. Farrell,	2007	\$ 404,206	\$ 121,100	\$ 0	\$ 64,326	\$ 589,632
Chief Executive Officer	2006	\$ 366,564	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 64,484	\$ 431,048
Nicolas V. Chater Chief Financial Officer	2007	\$ 30,288	\$ 0	\$ 95,000(2)	\$ 0	\$ 125,288
Robert K. Mills,	2007	\$ 135,569	\$ 7,580	\$ 61,650 ₍₃₎	\$ 18,400	\$ 223,199
former Chief Financial Officer	2006	\$ 199,000	\$ 25,000	\$ 119,324(3)	\$ 50,640	\$ 393,964

- Reflects the proportionate amount of the total fair value of option awards granted under the Incentive Plan that are recognized by the Company as an expense for financial statement reporting purposes for the year ended December 31, 2007. The fair value of the awards was determined in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R (revised 2004), *Share Based Payment* (FAS No. 123R). The assumptions used in the calculation of the grant date fair values of the option awards are included in Note 3 to the Company s audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2007, which are included in the Annual Report.
- On December 13, 2007, the Company granted to Mr. Chater a ten-year option to purchase 100,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$2.00 per share, which option vests as to 50,000 shares on each of December 13, 2008 and December 13, 2009.
- (3) The Company granted to Mr. Mills: (i) on May 3, 2007, a ten-year option to purchase 45,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$2.70 per share, which option was scheduled to vest as to 15,000 shares on each of May 3, 2007, May 3, 2008 and May 3, 2009; (ii) on January 13, 2006, a ten-year option to purchase 100,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$4.05 per share, which option was scheduled to vest as to 33,333 shares on each of August 8, 2006 and August 8, 2007 and as to 33,334 shares on August 8, 2009; and (iii) on May 11, 2006, a ten-year option to purchase 30,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$3.00 per share, which option was scheduled to vest as to 10,000 shares on each of May 11, 2006, May 11, 2007 and May 11, 2008. Mr. Mills ceased serving as the Company s Chief Financial Officer effective July 31, 2007, and all his options terminated on October 31, 2007, without being exercised.

Outstanding Equity Awards At 2007 Fiscal Year-End

The table below shows outstanding equity awards held by the Named Executive Officers for the year ended December 31, 2007.

	Optio	Option Awards		
	Number of Securities	Number of Securities		
	Underlying	Underlying Option Op		
	Unexercised Options	Exercise	Expiration	
Name	Unexercisable	Price	Date	
Nicolas V. Chater	100,000	\$ 2.00	12/13/2019	

⁽¹⁾ Represents an option to purchase 100,000 shares of Common Stock which vests as to 50,000 shares on each of December 31, 2008 and December 13, 2009.

8

Employment Agreements and Post-Termination Payments

Ronald G. Farrell. Pursuant to the employment agreement, as amended, between the Company and Mr. Farrell, Mr. Farrell has agreed to serve as the Company s Chief Executive Officer and President until June 30, 2010. The agreement provides for: (i) payment of a specified base salary which increases by 10% per year; (ii) payment of an annual incentive bonus equal to 5% of the Company s EBITDA, as defined, for such year, provided that such bonus may not exceed 100% of Mr. Farrell s base salary for such year; (iii) prohibitions against Mr. Farrell s disclosure of confidential information, solicitation of the Company s employees and participation in a business competitive with the Company s business during his employment and for a period of one year following the termination of his employment; (iv) upon termination of Mr. Farrell s employment by the Company without cause by Mr. Farrell for good reason, a lump sum payment to Mr. Farrell equal to the base salary otherwise payable to Mr. Farrell for the remainder of the term of the agreement and continuation of all other employee benefits and payments otherwise payable to Mr. Farrell for the remainder of such term, provided, however, that all COBRA payments payable by Mr. Farrell shall be paid by the Company for at least 18 months after such termination; and (v) upon a change of control of the Company, a lump sum payment to Mr. Farrell equal to the value of all compensation and benefits which Mr. Farrell would have received had the agreement terminated two years after such change of control. Pursuant to Mr. Farrell s employment agreement, the Company also provides certain other benefits and expense reimbursements to Mr. Farrell which are consistent with his position as the Company s Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Farrell is also entitled to participate in any employee benefit plan, stock option plan and other fringe benefit plan at the discretion of the Board.

Pursuant to Mr. Farrell s employment agreement, the following post-termination payments would be payable to Mr. Farrell as of December 31, 2007, if a termination event occurred:

		пеани ана			
		,			
	Salar	y	Benefits	Other	
Termination due to death of the executive	\$ 689.	,000 \$	41,000	\$ 27,000	
Termination with cause	\$	0 \$	0	\$ 0	
Termination without cause	\$ 1,203	,000 \$	86,000	\$45,000	
Termination due to change of control	\$ 1,203.	.000 \$	86,000	\$ 45,000	

TT - - 141- - - - - J

For purposes of Mr. Farrell s employment agreement (i) the term cause means gross negligence, gross malfeasance or willful disregard for duty in the performance of Mr. Farrell s employment agreement, other than as a result of Mr. Farrell s part shall be considered willful, unless done, or omitted to be done, by him not in good faith and without reasonable belief that this action or omission was in the best interest of the Company; and (ii) the phrase change of control refers to the sale of the Company, removal of Mr. Farrell as Chairman of Board, or one person or group gaining a majority 51% interest in the Company or a majority of the members of the Board.

In order to induce the tender of the Company s 10% Convertible Promissory Notes due 2008 in the issuer tender offer described in the Company s tender offer statement on Schedule TO, initially filed with the SEC on August 20, 2008, as amended (the Exchange Offer), the Company and Mr. Farrell have agreed to amend his employment agreement as follows: (i) to reduce his annual salary by (a) 25% during the period from January 1, 2009 through June 30, 2010; and (ii) to grant to Mr. Farrell (a) 100,000 shares of Common Stock on the

Table of Contents

date the amendment to his employment agreement is executed and (b) 81,406 shares of Common Stock on January 1, 2009 (together, the Stock Grants). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the reduction in Mr. Farrell s annual salary shall not affect the calculation of bonus, severance or other amounts which Mr. Farrell is entitled to receive, and which are calculated with reference to Mr. Farrell s base salary, under his employment agreement and such bonus, severance and other amounts will be calculated and made as if the reduction in Mr. Farrell s annual salary had not occurred.

The Stock Grants will be made pursuant and subject to the terms and conditions of the Incentive Plan. The Stock Grants will vest in a manner such that an aggregate of 10,000 shares will vest on the last day of each month during the period from January 1, 2009 through May 31, 2010, and the remaining unvested shares underlying the Stock Grants will vest on June 30, 2010. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company experiences a change in control (as defined in the Incentive Plan), or if Mr. Farrell resigns, is terminated from his position, ceases to be the Company s Chief Executive Officer or otherwise ceases to be employed by the Company, then all shares underlying the Stock Grants which have not vested by the end of the month in which such change in control occurs, or at the time of such resignation, termination or cessation, will be forfeited.

The amendment of Mr. Farrell s employment agreement to effect the foregoing changes in his compensation shall be made promptly after the Exchange Offer.

Nicolas Chater. Pursuant to an employment agreement between the Company and Mr. Chater, Mr. Chater has agreed to serve as the Company s Chief Financial Officer until June 30, 2010. The agreement provides for: (i) payment of a base salary at a rate of \$250,000 per year; (ii) payment of an annual retention bonus equal to \$25,000 per year; (iii) payment of an annual performance bonus equal to 3% of the Company s EBITDA, as defined, for such year, provided, that (a) the annual performance bonus may not exceed 100% of the base salary for such year and (b) Mr. Chater s 2008 performance bonus shall not be less than \$90,000; and (iv) an annual issuance to Mr. Chater pursuant to the Incentive Plan of options to purchase at least 50,000 shares of Common Stock which vest over a two-year period. The employment agreement also provides that, if Mr. Chater s employment is terminated by the Company without cause or by him for good reason, then Mr. Chater shall be entitled to receive a single lump sum in an amount equal to his then-current salary and performance bonus and shall be entitled to participate in the Company s employee benefit, retirement and compensation plans during the twelve-month period following the date of such termination.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Mr. Chater s employment is terminated by the Company without cause during the 24-month period following a change of control of the Company, then Mr. Chater will be entitled to receive a lump sum payment of his then-current performance bonus and twice his then-current base salary and shall be entitled to participate in the Company s employee benefit, retirement and compensation plans during the 24-month period following the date of such termination.

Pursuant to the employment agreement, the following post-termination payments would be payable to Mr. Chater as of December 31, 2007, if a termination event occurred:

		Health and			
	G 1 (1)	Welfare			
	Salary ⁽¹⁾	Benefits	Other		
Termination due to death of the executive	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 0		
Termination with cause	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 0		
Termination without cause	\$ 370,000	\$ 14,000	\$ 0		
Termination due to change of control	\$ 659,000	\$ 28,000	\$ 0		

(1) Includes guaranteed bonus.

10

Table of Contents

For purposes of Mr. Chater s employment agreement, cause for termination hereof shall exist if: (i) Mr. Chater is convicted of, or pleads guilty or nolo contendere to, any act of fraud, misappropriation or embezzlement, or any felony; (ii) in the reasonable determination of the Board, Mr. Chater has engaged in conduct or activity materially damaging to the business of the Company; or (iii) Mr. Chater has failed, without reasonable cause, to devote his full business time and best efforts to the business of the Company and, after written notice from the Company of such failure, Mr. Chater at any time thereafter again so fails.

Also for purposes of Mr. Chater s employment agreement, a change in control shall have occurred if: (i) a majority of the directors of the Company shall be persons other than persons (a) for whose election proxies shall have been solicited by the Board, or (b) who are then serving as directors appointed by the Board to fill vacancies on the Board caused by death or resignation (but not by removal) or to fill newly-created directorships; (ii) a majority of the outstanding voting power of the Company shall have been acquired or beneficially owned by any person or group, which group does not include Mr. Chater; or (iii) there shall have occurred, subject to certain exceptions, (1) a merger or consolidation of the Company with or into another corporation (other than certain specified mergers or consolidations), (2) a statutory exchange of shares of one or more classes or series of outstanding voting stock of the Company for cash, securities or other property, (3) the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company (in one transaction or a series of transactions), or (4) the liquidation or dissolution of the Company.

Director Compensation

The Company compensates each member of the Board for his service on the Board at an annual rate of \$18,000 per year plus \$1,500 for each Board meeting and committee meeting attended by such member. The Company reimburses the Board members for reasonable expenses incurred by them in attending such meetings of the Board and any committees of the Board of which they are members. Members of the Board are also eligible to receive stock options granted pursuant to the Incentive Plan.

The following table summarizes the compensation for director fees paid to or accrued for the Company s non-employee directors during the year ended December 31, 2007.

Name	Earned or l in Cash	Option Awards	Total
James A. Logsdon (1)	\$ 26,250	\$ 5,200	\$ 31,450
Lee K. Toole ⁽²⁾	\$ 26,250	\$ 5,200	\$ 31,450
James A. Verbrugge ⁽³⁾	\$ 26,250	\$ 5,200	\$ 31,450

- On November 8, 2007, the Company granted to Mr. Logsdon an immediately exercisable, ten-year option to purchase 5,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$2.16 per share, which option had a fair value on the date of grant determined in accordance with FAS No. 123R, of \$5,200. As of December 31, 2007, Mr. Logsdon had exercisable options to purchase an aggregate of 13,332 shares of Common Stock and unexercisable options to purchase an aggregate of 4,166 shares of Common Stock.
- On November 8, 2007, the Company granted to Mr. Toole an immediately exercisable, ten-year option to purchase 5,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$2.16 per share, which

11

Table of Contents

option had a fair value on the date of grant determined in accordance with FAS No. 123R of \$5,200. As of December 31, 2007, Mr. Toole had exercisable options to purchase an aggregate of 13,332 shares of Common Stock and unexercisable options to purchase an aggregate of 4,166 shares of Common Stock.

On November 8, 2007, the Company granted to Mr. Verbrugge an immediately exercisable, ten-year option to purchase 5,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$2.16 per share, which option had a fair value on the date of grant determined in accordance with FAS No.123R of \$5,200. As of December 31, 2007, Mr. Verbrugge had exercisable options to purchase an aggregate of 13,332 shares of Common Stock and unexercisable options to purchase an aggregate of 4,166 shares of Common Stock.

PROPOSAL 2:

RATIFICATION OF APPOINTMENT OF

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Overview

Tauber & Balser, P.C. (Tauber & Balser) served as the Company s independent registered public accounting firm from December 21, 2005 to November 1, 2008, and conducted the audit of the Company s consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007. The Board has appointed HA&W to serve as the independent registered public accounting firm to conduct an audit of the Company s consolidated financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2008.

Appointment of the Company s independent registered public accounting firm is not required to be submitted to a vote of the shareholders of the Company for ratification under the laws of the State of Georgia. However, the Audit Committee has recommended that the Board submit this matter to the shareholders of the Company as a matter of good corporate practice. If the shareholders fail to ratify the appointment of HA&W at the meeting, then the Audit Committee will take the shareholder vote under advisement when selecting the Company s independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2009.

Representatives of HA&W are expected to be present at the Meeting. They will have the opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so and are expected to be available to respond to appropriate questions.

Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants

On November 1, 2008, Tauber & Balser resigned as the Company s independent registered public accounting firm. Tauber & Balser recently entered into an agreement with HA&W, pursuant to which Tauber & Balser combined its operations into HA&W and certain of the Tauber & Balser professional staff and shareholders joined HA&W, either as employees or partners of HA&W, and will continue to practice as members of HA&W.

The reports of Tauber & Balser regarding the Company s financial statements for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 did not contain any adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion and were not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles. During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 and during the period from the end of the most recently completed fiscal year through November 1, 2008, the date of the Tauber & Balser resignation, there were no disagreements between the Company and Tauber & Balser on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedures, which disagreements, if not

resolved to the satisfaction of Tauber & Balser, would have caused Tauber & Balser to make reference to such disagreements in its reports. During the two most recent fiscal years and through November 1, 2008, there were no reportable events as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K.

On November 4, 2008, the Company engaged HA&W as its new independent registered public accounting firm. Prior to engaging HA&W, the Company did not consult with HA&W regarding the application of accounting principles to a specific completed or contemplated transaction or regarding the type of opinion that might be rendered by HA&W on the Company s financial statements, and HA&W did not provide any written or oral advice that was an important factor considered by the Company in reaching a decision as to any such accounting, auditing or financial reporting issue. The engagement of HA&W was approved by the Audit Committee.

Fees and Services

The following is a summary of the fees billed to the Company by its principal accountant for professional services rendered for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007.

	Mille	er, Ray,				
	Hor	ıser &				
	Stewart LLP ⁽¹⁾ Tauber & Balser, P			lser, P.C.		
			Year			
		Ended	Ended		Year Ended December 31,	
		December 31,		,		
		006	2006		2007	
Audit Fees	\$	0	\$ 179,0)52	\$ 225,086	
Audit Related Fees ⁽²⁾	\$	0	\$ 14,0	000	\$ 13,800	
Tax Fees	\$	0	\$	0	\$ 0	
All Other Fees ⁽³⁾	\$	5,555	\$ 16,6	600	5 0	
Total Fees	\$	5,555	\$ 209,6	552	238,886	

- On July 20, 2004, the Company engaged Miller Ray Houser & Stewart LLP (MRH&S) as its independent registered public accounting firm to audit the Company s financial statements in preparation for its initial public offering and for the year ended December 31, 2004. MRH&S resigned as the Company s independent registered public accounting firm on December 21, 2005.
- (2) These fees relate primarily to due diligence pertaining to acquisitions, audits of employee benefit plans, and accounting consultations.
- (3) These fees relate primarily for consents related to consultation services, SEC registration statements and special transactions. Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Auditors

The Audit Committee is required to pre-approve the audit and non-audit services performed by the Company s independent registered public accountants. The Audit Committee has adopted a policy which provides for general pre-approval of specified Audit, Audit-Related, Tax and Other Services that do not exceed enumerated dollar amounts. The policy also provides that, unless a type of service to be provided by the Company s independent registered public accounting firm has received general pre-approval, it will require specific pre-approval by the Audit Committee.

Table of Contents

The Audit Committee has determined the Audit, Audit-Related, Tax and Other Services that are the basis for general pre-approval by the Audit Committee. The enumerated dollar amounts at which such general pre-approval will apply are currently under consideration by the Audit Committee. Until the Audit Committee has determined such enumerated dollar amounts, all services performed by the Company s independent registered public accountants will require the specific pre-approval of the Audit Committee.

Vote Required to Ratify Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Ratification of the appointment of HA&W as the Company s independent registered public accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2008, will require that the number of votes cast at the Meeting favoring the proposal with respect to such ratification exceed the number of votes cast opposing such proposal.

Recommendation of the Board of Directors

The Board unanimously recommends that the shareholders of the Company vote **FOR** Proposal 2. Proxies solicited by the Board will be voted **FOR** the ratification of the appointment of HA&W unless instructions to the contrary are given.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee consists of the following members of the Board: Messrs. Logsdon and Toole and Dr. Verbrugge, with Dr. Verbrugge serving as the chairman. Each of the members meets the independence requirements of Rule 4200(a)(15) of the Nasdaq Listing Standards.

The Audit Committee operates under a written charter adopted by the Board effective as of October 13, 2004, a copy of which was attached as *Appendix A* to the Company s proxy statement for its 2006 annual meeting of shareholders.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with management the Company s audited financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007.

The Audit Committee has discussed with the Company s independent registered public accountants for the year ended December 31, 2007, the matters required to be discussed by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, Communication with Audit Committees, as amended, by the Auditing Standards Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the written disclosures and the letter from Tauber & Balser required by the applicable requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding Tauber & Balser s communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence and has discussed with Tauber & Balser its independence.

Based on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board that the audited financial statements referred to above be included in the Annual Report for filing with the SEC.

Respectfully submitted,

James M. Logsdon

Robert K. Toole

James A. Verbrugge (Chairman)

14

Table of Contents

Pursuant to the regulations of the SEC, this report is not soliciting material, is not deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference in any filing of the Company under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

15

PROPOSAL 3

AMENDMENT TO 2004 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN,

AS AMENDED AND RESTATED

Introduction

On October 13, 2004, the Board and the Company s shareholders initially approved the Company s 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, which was amended and restated effective November 7, 2006, upon the approval of the Company s shareholders at the Company s 2006 annual meeting of shareholders. The Company s 2004 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective November 7, 2006, is referred to in this Proxy Statement as the Incentive Plan.

The amendment and restatement of the Company s 2004 Incentive Stock Plan: (i) increased the number of shares authorized for issuance under the Incentive Plan from 500,000 to 1,500,000, less the aggregate number of shares already issued thereunder; (ii) authorized the issuance of performance-based awards which satisfy the requirements of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code); (iii) incorporated necessary amendments to satisfy the requirements of Section 409A of the Code; and (iv) prohibited the repricing of options granted under the Incentive Plan without shareholder approval.

On November 12, 2008, the Board approved, subject to shareholder approval, a further amendment to the Incentive Plan to: (i) increase the number of shares authorized for issuance under the Incentive Plan from 1,500,000 to 2,000,000, less the aggregate number of shares already issued thereunder; and (ii) provide that unvested, performance-based awards of restricted stock and stock bonuses (each as defined below under Summary of Incentive Plan as Proposed to be Amended) will be terminated and forfeited upon retirement. The Board is submitting this amendment as Proposal 3 of this Proxy Statement for approval of the Company s shareholders at the Annual Meeting.

The purpose of the Incentive Plan is to advance the interests of the Company and its shareholders by enabling the Company to: (i) attract and retain qualified employees or consultants to perform services for the Company by providing an incentive to such individuals through equity participation in the Company and by rewarding such individuals who contribute to the achievement by the Company of its economic objectives; and (ii) pursue its growth strategy by providing the Company a means to provide an incentive through equity participation in the Company in the form of stock options or other incentive awards to key employees of newly acquired companies. The Company s management relies on incentive awards as an essential part of the compensation packages necessary for the Company to attract and retain experienced officers and employees and to motivate employees to maximize shareholder value.

At the Meeting, shareholders are being asked to amend the Incentive Plan as set forth in Proposal 3. In the event Proposal 3 is not approved by the shareholders, then the Incentive Plan will remain in full force and effect as amended and restated on November 7, 2006. The Incentive Plan as proposed to be amended as set forth in Proposal 3 is attached as *Appendix B* to this Proxy Statement.

The Amendments to the Incentive Plan

As discussed above, the amendment to the Incentive Plan set forth in Proposal 3 amends the Incentive Plan to increase the number of shares authorized for issuance thereunder and to provide that unvested, performance-based awards of restricted stock and stock bonuses will be terminated and forfeited upon retirement.

16

Table of Contents

As of the Record Date, the Company had granted options to purchase 873,050 shares of Common Stock and issued (or approved for issuance) 205,000 shares of restricted Common Stock under the Incentive Plan. Accordingly, 421,950 shares of Common Stock remain available for grant under the Incentive Plan as of the Record Date. The amendment to the Incentive Plan set forth in Proposal 3 increases the number of shares authorized for issuance under the Incentive Plan from 1,500,000 to 2,000,000, less the aggregate number of shares already issued thereunder. The Board believes this increase is necessary in order to have shares of Common Stock available for future retention of key employees and the recruitment of new employees. If Proposal 3 is approved by the shareholders, then an additional 500,000 shares of Common Stock will be available for future awards under the Incentive Plan.

The Incentive Plan is intended to permit the grant of performance-based vesting awards in compliance with Section 162(m) of the Code, which generally disallows a tax deduction to public companies for compensation over \$1 million paid to the Chief Executive Officer and the four other most highly compensated executive officers in any taxable year. Qualifying performance-based compensation is not subject to the deduction limit if certain requirements are met. Qualifying performance-based compensation includes stock awards and stock based awards granted in a manner designed to make them deductible by the Company under Section 162(m) of the Code. A recent Revenue Ruling issued by the Internal Revenue Service in 2008 provides that awards which vest upon retirement are not considered qualifying performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Code. Accordingly, such awards would be subject to the deduction limit. In order to meet the requirements of Section 162(m) of the Code and preserve the deductibility of performance-based awards of restricted stock and stock bonuses granted under the Incentive Plan, the amendment to the Incentive Plan set forth in Proposal 3 amends the Incentive Plan to provide that unvested, performance-based awards of restricted stock and stock bonuses will be terminated and forfeited upon retirement.

Summary of the Incentive Plan as Proposed to be Amended

General. The Incentive Plan provides for the grant to participating eligible recipients of the Company, also referred to as participants, of (i) options to purchase shares of Common Stock that qualify as incentive stock options within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code; (ii) options to purchase shares of Common Stock that do not qualify as incentive options (non-qualified options); (iii) awards of shares of Common Stock that are subject to risk of forfeiture and transferability restrictions that lapse after specified periods of time or upon the occurrence of events described in the Incentive Plan (restricted stock awards); and (iv) awards of shares of Common Stock (stock bonuses). Incentive options and non-qualified options are collectively referred to in this document as options, and options, restricted stock awards, and stock bonuses are collectively referred to in this document as incentive awards.

The Incentive Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board. In accordance with and subject to the provisions of the Incentive Plan, the Compensation Committee has the authority to determine all provisions of incentive awards as the Compensation Committee may deem necessary or desirable and as consistent with the terms of the Incentive Plan, including (i) the recipients to be granted incentive awards under the Incentive Plan; (ii) the nature and extent of the incentive awards to be made to each participant; (iii) the time or times when incentive awards will be granted; (iv) the duration of each incentive award; and (v) the restrictions and other conditions to which the payment or vesting of incentive awards may be subject. In addition, the Compensation Committee has the authority in its sole discretion to pay the economic value of any incentive award in the form of cash, shares of Common Stock or any combination of both.

17

Table of Contents

The Compensation Committee has the authority under the Incentive Plan to amend or modify the terms of any outstanding incentive award in any manner, including the authority to modify the number of shares or other terms and conditions of an incentive award, extend the term of an incentive award, accelerate the exercisability or vesting or otherwise terminate any restrictions relating to an incentive award, accept the surrender of any outstanding incentive award or, to the extent not previously exercised or vested, authorize the grant of new incentive awards in substitution for surrendered incentive awards; provided that the amended or modified terms are permitted by the Incentive Plan as then in effect and that any participant adversely affected by such amended or modified terms has consented to such amendment or modification. In the event of any reorganization, merger, consolidation, recapitalization, liquidation, reclassification, stock dividend, stock split, combination of shares, rights offering, divestiture or extraordinary dividend (including a spin-off) or any other change in the corporate structure or shares of the Company, the Compensation Committee (or, if the Company is not the surviving corporation in any such transaction, the board of directors of the surviving corporation) will make appropriate adjustments to the number and kind of securities or other property (including cash) available for issuance or payment under the Incentive Plan and, in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the rights of participants, (i) the number and kind of securities or other property (including cash) subject to outstanding options, and (ii) the exercise price of outstanding options.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in the Incentive Plan, unless and except to the extent otherwise approved by the Company s shareholders, repricing of options granted under the Incentive Plan is not permitted.

The Compensation Committee also has the authority to amend the Incentive Plan and outstanding awards to preserve the intended benefits of awards granted under the Incentive Plan and to avoid the imposition of an additional tax under Section 409A of the Code. In addition, the Incentive Plan provides that no award under the Incentive Plan can be granted, deferred, accelerated (including pursuant to the change of control provisions described above), extended, paid out or modified under the Incentive Plan in a manner that would result in the imposition of an additional tax under Section 409A of the Code on a participant. If a payment with respect to an award would result in tax liability to the participant under 409A of the Code, then the Incentive Plan provides that the Company will not make the payment when otherwise required and instead will make the payment on the first day that payment would not result in the tax liability.

All employees (including officers and directors who are also employees), non-employee directors, consultants and independent contractors of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company who, in the judgment of the Compensation Committee, have contributed, are contributing or are expected to contribute to the achievement of economic objectives of the Company and its subsidiaries will be eligible to participate in the Incentive Plan. As of the Record Date, there were approximately 3,000 individuals eligible to participate in the Incentive Plan. As a holder of incentive awards (other than restricted stock awards and stock bonuses), a participant will have no rights as a shareholder with respect to the shares of Common Stock underlying such incentive awards unless and until such incentive awards are exercised for, or paid in the form of, shares of Common Stock and the participant becomes the holder of record of such shares. No right or interest of any participant in an incentive award may be assigned or transferred, except pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order (other than the case of incentive stock options), testamentary will, the laws of descent and distribution, or as otherwise expressly permitted by the Incentive Plan, or subjected to any lien or otherwise encumbered during the lifetime of the participant, either voluntarily or involuntarily, directly or indirectly, by operation of law or otherwise, unless approved by the Compensation Committee in its sole discretion.

If Proposal 3 is approved by the Company s shareholders at the Meeting, then the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that will be available for issuance under the Incentive Plan will be 2,000,000 shares of Common Stock less the number of shares of Common Stock already granted under the Incentive Plan. Except for options issued pursuant to the Incentive Plan in connection with a reorganization, merger

18

Table of Contents

or consolidation involving the Company or one of its subsidiaries, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock with respect to which incentive awards may be granted during a calendar year to any participant is 500,000, provided that the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that may be awarded in the form of restricted stock awards and stock bonuses during any calendar year to any participant is 200,000. On the Record Date, the last sale price of the Common Stock was \$0.50 per share, as reported on The Nasdaq Capital Market.

The Incentive Plan will terminate at midnight on October 13, 2014, unless terminated earlier by action of the Board. The Board may suspend or terminate the Incentive Plan or any portion thereof at any time and may amend the Incentive Plan in any respect without shareholder approval, unless shareholder approval is then required by federal securities or tax laws or the rules of The Nasdaq Capital Market. No incentive award under the Incentive Plan will be granted after termination of the Incentive Plan. Incentive awards outstanding upon termination of the Incentive Plan may continue to be exercised, or become free of restrictions, in accordance with their terms.

Options. The terms and conditions of any option granted under the Incentive Plan, including whether the option is to be considered an incentive stock option or a non-qualified option, are determined by the Compensation Committee, subject to the requirements set forth in the Incentive Plan. To the extent, however, that any incentive stock option granted under the Incentive Plan ceases for any reason to qualify as an incentive stock option under the Code, such incentive stock option will continue to be outstanding for purposes of the Incentive Plan but will thereafter be deemed to be a non-qualified option. The per share price to be paid by a participant upon exercise of an option will be determined by the Compensation Committee in its discretion at the time of the option grant, provided that the exercise price for options must be equal to the fair market value of one share of Common Stock on the date of grant and, in the case of an incentive stock option, 110% of the fair market value if, at the time the incentive stock option is granted, the participant owns, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any parent or subsidiary corporation of the Company. The fair market value of Common Stock is equal to the closing bid price, as reported by The Nasdaq Capital Market, as of the date of grant (or, if no shares were traded or quoted on such date, as of the next preceding date on which there was such a trade or quote).

An option will become exercisable at such times and in such installments as may be determined by the Compensation Committee in its sole discretion at the time of grant provided that no option may be exercisable after 10 years from its date of grant. For incentive options, the aggregate fair market value (determined as of the time the incentive option is granted) of shares of Common Stock with respect to which incentive options become exercisable for the first time by the participant under the Incentive Plan during any calendar year may not exceed \$100,000.

Payment of an option exercise price must be made entirely in cash unless the Compensation Committee, in its sole discretion and upon terms and conditions established by the Compensation Committee, allows such payments to be made, in whole or in part, (i) by tender of a written notice pursuant to which a participant irrevocably instructs a broker or dealer to sell a sufficient number of shares or loan a sufficient amount of money to pay all or a portion of the exercise price of the option and/or any related withholding tax obligations and remit such sums to the Company and directs the Company to deliver stock certificates to be issued upon such exercise directly to such broker or dealer; (ii) by tender of shares of Common Stock that are already owned by the participant or, with respect to any incentive award, that are to be issued upon the grant, exercise or vesting of such incentive award; (iii) by execution of a promissory note (on terms acceptable to the Compensation Committee in its sole discretion); or (iv) by a combination of such methods.

19

Table of Contents

Restricted Stock Awards. Restricted stock awards are awards of Common Stock granted to a recipient which are subject to restrictions on transferability and the risk of forfeiture. The Compensation Committee may impose such restrictions or conditions, not inconsistent with the provisions of the Incentive Plan, to the vesting of restricted stock awards as it deems appropriate, including that the participant remain in the continuous employ or service of the Company or any of its subsidiaries for a specified period of time or that the participant or the Company, or any subsidiary or division of the Company, satisfy specified performance goals or criteria. Except as otherwise provided under the Incentive Plan, a participant will have all voting, dividend, liquidation and other rights with respect to such shares of Common Stock issued to the participant as a restricted stock award upon the participant becoming the holder of record of such shares as if such participant were a holder of record of shares of unrestricted Common Stock.

Stock Bonuses. Stock bonuses are awards of Common Stock that are not subject to any restrictions other than, if imposed by the Compensation Committee, restrictions on transferability. A participant may be granted one or more stock bonuses under the Incentive Plan, and such stock bonuses will be subject to such terms and conditions, consistent with other provisions of the Incentive Plan, as may be determined by the Compensation Committee in its sole discretion. Other than transfer restrictions, if any, imposed by the Compensation Committee, the participant will have all voting, dividend, liquidation and other rights with respect to the shares of Common Stock issued to a participant as a stock bonus under the Incentive Plan upon the participant becoming the holder of record of such shares.

Performance-Based Awards. Certain restricted stock awards and stock bonuses granted under the Incentive Plan may be granted in a manner designed to make them deductible by the Company under Section 162(m) of the Code. Such awards (performance-based awards) shall be based on one or more of the following performance criteria: (i) operating income before depreciation and amortization; (ii) operating income; (iii) earnings per share; (iv) return on shareholders equity; (v) revenues or sales; (vi) free cash flow; (vii) return on invested capital; and (viii) total shareholder return. With respect to performance-based awards, (a) the Compensation Committee will establish the objective performance goals applicable to a given period of service no later than 90 days after the commencement of such period of service (but in no event after 25% of such period of service has elapsed); and (b) as required by Section 162(m) of the Code, no awards will be granted to any participant for a given period of service until the Compensation Committee certifies that the objective performance goals (and any other material terms) applicable to such period have been satisfied.

Effect of Termination of Employment or Other Service. If a participant s employment or other service with the Company and its subsidiaries is terminated by reason of death, disability or (except in the case of incentive stock options and performance-based awards of restricted stock and stock bonuses) retirement: (i) all outstanding options then held by the participant will become immediately exercisable in full and will remain exercisable for a period of one year after such termination (but in no event after the expiration date of any such option); (ii) all restricted stock awards then held by the participant will become fully vested; and (iii) all stock bonuses then held by the participant will vest and/or continue to vest in the manner determined by the Compensation Committee and set forth in the agreement evidencing such stock bonuses. In the event a participant s employment or other service is terminated with the Company and its subsidiaries for any reason other than death, disability or retirement (but including retirement in the case of incentive stock options and performance-based awards of restricted stock and stock bonuses), or a participant is in the employ or service of a subsidiary of the Company and such subsidiary ceases to be a subsidiary of the Company (unless the participant continues in the employ or service of the Company or another subsidiary), (i) all outstanding options then held by the participant will remain exercisable to the extent exercisable as of such termination until the earlier of three months after such termination or the expiration date of any such option, unless termination is for cause, in which case all options will remain exercisable as of such termination for a period of one month after such termination

20

Table of Contents

(but in no event after the expiration of any such option); (ii) all restricted stock awards then held by the participant that have not vested will be terminated and forfeited; and (iii) all stock bonuses then held by the participant will vest and/or continue to vest in the manner determined by the Compensation Committee and set forth in the agreement evidencing such stock bonuses; provided, however, that all performance-based awards of stock bonuses then held by the participant that have not vested as of the participant s retirement will be terminated and forfeited upon such retirement.

Change in Control of the Company. In the event a change in control of the Company occurs, then, unless otherwise provided by the Compensation Committee in its sole discretion either in the agreement evidencing an incentive award at the time of grant or at any time after the grant of an incentive award, (i) all outstanding options will become immediately exercisable in full and will remain exercisable for the remainder of their terms, regardless of whether the participant to whom such options have been granted remains in the employ or service of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (ii) all outstanding restricted stock awards will become immediately fully vested and non-forfeitable; and (iii) all outstanding stock bonuses then held by the participant will vest and/or continue to vest in the manner determined by the Compensation Committee and set forth in the agreement evidencing such stock bonuses. In addition, the Compensation Committee, without the consent of any affected participant, may determine that some or all participants holding outstanding options will receive, with respect to some or all of the shares of Common Stock subject to such options, as of the effective date of any such change in control, cash in an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of such shares immediately prior to the effective date of such change in control over the exercise price per share of such options. To the extent that such acceleration of the vesting of incentive awards or the payment of cash in exchange for all or part of an incentive award would be deemed a payment (as defined in the Code), together with any other payments which such participant has the right to receive from the Company or any corporation that is a member of an affiliated group (as defined in Section 1504(a) of the Code) of which the Company is a member, would constitute a parachute payment (as defined in the Code), then the payments to such participant pursuant to the change in control provisions in the Incentive Plan will be reduced to the largest amount as will result in no portion of such payments being subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code. To the extent, however, that a participant has a separate agreement that specifically provides that such payments will not be reduced, then the foregoing limitations will not apply.

For purposes of the Incentive Plan, a change in control of the Company will be deemed to have occurred, among other things, upon (i) the sale, lease, exchange or other transfer, directly or indirectly, of substantially all of the assets of the Company (in one transaction or in a series of related transactions) to a person or entity that is not controlled by the Company; (ii) the approval by the Company shareholders of a plan or proposal for the liquidation or dissolution of the Company; (iii) any person (other than Ronald G. Farrell or any of his affiliates (as defined under Rule 144(a) of the Securities Act)) becoming, after the effective date of the Incentive Plan, the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of (A) 20% or more, but less than 50%, of the combined voting power of the Company s outstanding securities ordinarily having the right to vote at elections of directors, unless the transaction resulting in such ownership has been approved in advance by any individuals who are members of the Board on the effective date of the Incentive Plan and any individual who subsequently becomes a member of the Board whose election, or nomination for election by the Company shareholders, was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the incumbent directors (either by specific vote or by approval of the Company s proxy statement in which such individual is named as a nominee for director without objection to such nomination) (the incumbent directors), or (B) 50% or more of the combined voting power of the Company s outstanding securities ordinarily having the right to vote at elections of directors (regardless of any approval by the incumbent directors); (iv) a merger or consolidation to which the Company is a party if the Company shareholders immediately prior to the effective date of such merger or consolidation beneficially own, immediately following the effective date of such merger or consolidation, securities of the surviving corporation representing (A) more than 50%, but less than 80%, of the combined vot

21

Table of Contents

corporation s then outstanding securities ordinarily having the right to vote at elections of directors, unless such merger or consolidation was approved in advance by the incumbent directors, or (B) 50% or less of the combined voting power of the surviving corporation s then outstanding securities ordinarily having the right to vote at elections of directors, (regardless of any approval by the incumbent directors); (v) the incumbent directors cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board; or (vi) any other change in control of the Company of a nature that would be required to be reported pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, whether or not the Company is then subject to such reporting requirements.

Awards Under the Incentive Plan. The exact number or amounts of any future grants of incentive awards under the Incentive Plan have not been determined at this time. At the discretion of the Compensation Committee, awards under the Incentive Plan may be made to the Company s officers, directors and current and future employees. Except pursuant to the terms of employment agreements between the Company and its executive officers, which are described in the section of this Proxy Statement titled Executive Compensation Employment Agreements and Post-Termination Payments , the Company is not obligated to make any future grants of awards under the Incentive Plan and does not have any plans, proposals or arrangements, written or otherwise, to issue any awards under the Incentive Plan.

United States Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following description of United States federal income tax consequences is based on current statutes, regulations and interpretations. The description does not address non-U.S. or state and local income tax consequences. In addition, the description is not intended to address specific tax consequences applicable to an individual participant who receives an incentive award.

Incentive Options. There will not be any federal income tax consequences to either the participant or the Company as a result of the grant to an employee of an incentive option under the Incentive Plan. The exercise by a participant of an incentive option also will not result in any federal income tax consequences to the Company or the participant, except that (i) an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of the shares acquired upon exercise of the incentive option, determined at the time of exercise, over the amount paid for the shares by the participant will be includable in the participant s alternative minimum taxable income for purposes of the alternative minimum tax, and (ii) the participant may be subject to an additional excise tax if any amounts are treated as excess parachute payments (see explanation below). Special rules will apply if previously acquired shares of Common Stock are permitted to be tendered in payment of an option exercise price or if shares otherwise to be received pursuant to the exercise of such option are used for such purpose.

If the participant disposes of the incentive option shares acquired upon exercise of the incentive option, the federal income tax consequences will depend upon how long the participant has held the shares. If the participant does not dispose of the shares within two years after the incentive option was granted, nor within one year after the participant exercised the incentive option and the shares were transferred to the participant, then the participant will recognize a long-term capital gain or loss. The amount of the long-term capital gain or loss will be equal to the difference between (i) the amount the participant realized on disposition of the shares; and (ii) the option price at which the participant acquired the shares. The Company is not entitled to any compensation expense deduction under these circumstances.

If the participant does not satisfy both of the above holding period requirements (a disqualifying disposition), then the participant will be required to report as ordinary income, in the year the participant disposes of the shares, the amount by which the lesser of (i) the fair market value of the shares at the time of exercise of the incentive option (or, for directors, officers or greater than 10% shareholders of the Company, generally the fair market value of the shares six months after the date of exercise, unless such

22

Table of Contents

persons file an election under Section 83(b) of the Code within 30 days of exercise); or (ii) the amount realized on the disposition of the shares, exceeds the option price for the shares. Subject to Section 162(m) of the Code, the Company generally will be entitled to a compensation expense deduction in an amount equal to the ordinary income includable in the taxable income of the participant. The remainder of the gain recognized on the disposition, if any, or any loss recognized on the disposition, will be treated as long-term or short-term capital gain or loss, depending on the holding period.

Non-Qualified Options. Neither the participant nor the Company incurs any federal income tax consequences as a result of the grant of a non-qualified option. Upon exercise of a non-qualified option, a participant will recognize ordinary income, subject, in the case of employees, to payroll tax withholding requirements, on the includability date in an amount equal to the difference between (i) the fair market value of the shares purchased, determined on the includability date; and (ii) the consideration paid for the shares. The includability date generally will be the date of exercise of the non-qualified option. However, the includability date for participants who are officers, directors or greater than 10% shareholders of the Company will generally occur six months later, unless such persons file an election under Section 83(b) of the Code within 30 days of the date of exercise to include as ordinary income the amount realized upon exercise of the non-qualified option. The participant may be subject to an additional excise tax if any amounts are treated as excess parachute payments (see explanation below). Special rules will apply if previously acquired shares of Common Stock are permitted to be tendered in payment of an option exercise price or if shares otherwise to be received pursuant to the exercise of such option are used for such purpose.

At the time of a subsequent sale or disposition of any shares of Common Stock obtained upon exercise of a non-qualified option, any gain or loss will be a capital gain or loss. Such capital gain or loss will be long-term capital gain or loss if the sale or disposition occurs more than one year after the includability date and short-term capital gain or loss if the sale or disposition occurs one year or less after the includability date.

Subject to Section 162(m) of the Code, the Company generally will be entitled to a compensation expense deduction in connection with the exercise of a non-qualified option for any amounts includable in the taxable income of the participant as ordinary income, provided the Company complies with the applicable withholding and reporting requirements.

Restricted Stock Awards and Stock Bonuses. With respect to shares issued pursuant to a restricted stock award that is not subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture or with respect to stock bonuses, a participant will recognize ordinary income, subject, in the case of employees, to payroll tax withholding requirements, in the year of receipt in an amount equal to the fair market value of the shares received on the date of receipt. With respect to shares that are subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture, a participant may file an election under Section 83(b) of the Code within 30 days after receipt to recognize ordinary income, subject, in the case of employees, to payroll tax withholding requirements, in the year of receipt in an amount equal to the fair market value of the shares received on the date of receipt (determined as if the shares were not subject to any risk of forfeiture). If a Section 83(b) election is made, the participant will not recognize any additional income when the restrictions on the shares issued in connection with the restricted stock award lapse. Subject to Section 162(m) of the Code, the Company generally will be entitled to a corresponding tax deduction for any amounts includable in the taxable income of the participant as ordinary income. At the time any such shares are sold or disposed of, any gain or loss will be treated as long-term or short-term capital gain or loss, depending on the holding period from the date of receipt of the restricted stock award.

A participant who does not make a Section 83(b) election within 30 days of the receipt of a restricted stock award that is subject to a risk of forfeiture will recognize ordinary income, subject, in the case of

23

Table of Contents

employees, to payroll tax withholding requirements, at the time of the lapse of the restrictions in an amount equal to the then fair market value of the shares free of restrictions. Subject to Section 162(m) of the Code, the Company generally will be entitled to a corresponding tax deduction for any amounts includable in the taxable income of a participant as ordinary income. At the time of a subsequent sale or disposition of any shares of Common Stock issued in connection with a restricted stock award as to which the restrictions have lapsed, any gain or loss will be treated as long-term or short-term capital gain or loss, depending on the holding period from the date the restrictions lapse. Any dividends received by a participant with respect to unvested shares will, unless such participant has made a valid Section 83(b) election, constitute compensation income (for which the Company generally will be entitled to a corresponding tax deduction) subject to the participant s ordinary income tax rates and to wage withholding and reporting by the Company.

Excise Tax on Parachute Payments. Section 4999 of the Code imposes an excise tax on excess parachute payments, as defined in Section 280G of the Code. Generally, parachute payments are payments in the nature of compensation to employees or independent contractors who are also officers, shareholders or highly-individuals, where such payments are contingent on a change in ownership or control of the stock or assets of the paying corporation. In addition, the payments generally must be substantially greater in amount than the recipient s regular annual compensation. Under Treasury Regulations finalized by the Internal Revenue Service in 2003, under certain circumstances the grant, vesting, acceleration or exercise of options pursuant to the Incentive Plan could be treated as contingent on a change in ownership or control for purposes of determining the amount of a participant s parachute payments. In general, the amount of a parachute payment (some portion of which may be deemed to be an excess parachute payment) would be the cash or the fair market value of the property received (or to be received) less the amount paid for such property. If a participant were found to have received an excess parachute payment, he or she would be subject to a special nondeductible 20% excise tax on the amount thereof, and the Company would not be allowed to claim any deduction with respect thereto.

Section 162(m). As discussed above, Section 162(m) of the Code generally disallows a tax deduction to public companies for compensation over \$1 million paid to the Chief Executive Officer and the four other most highly compensated executive officers in any taxable year of the Company. Qualifying performance-based compensation is not subject to the deduction limit if certain requirements are met. One requirement is shareholder approval of (i) the performance criteria upon which performance-based awards may be based, (ii) the annual per-participant limits on grants and (iii) the class of employees eligible to receive awards. In the case of restricted stock and stock bonuses, other requirements generally are that objective performance goals and the amounts payable upon achievement of the goals be established by a committee of at least two outside directors and that no discretion be retained to increase the amount payable under the awards. In the case of stock options, other requirements are that the option be granted by a committee of at least two outside directors and that the exercise price of the option be not less than the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date of grant. Under the Incentive Plan, performance-based awards not subject to the deduction limit of Section 162(m) of the Code may be issued by the Company.

Section 409A. The Incentive Plan is intended to be interpreted and operated in accordance with Section 409A of the Code, including any regulations or guidance issued by the Treasury Department, and contains a number of provisions intended to avoid the imposition of additional tax on the Incentive Plan participants under Section 409A of the Code. As described above, the Committee may amend the Incentive Plan and outstanding awards to preserve the intended benefits of awards granted under the Incentive Plan and to avoid the imposition of an additional tax under Section 409A of the Code. No award under the Incentive Plan can be granted, deferred, accelerated (including pursuant to the change of control provisions described above), extended, paid out or modified under the Incentive Plan in a manner that would result in the imposition of an additional tax under Section 409A of the Code on a participant. If a

24

Table of Contents

payment with respect to an award would result in tax liability to the participant under 409A of the Code, then the Incentive Plan provides that the Company will not make the payment when otherwise required and instead will make the payment on the first day that payment would not result in the tax liability.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table sets forth information regarding equity compensation plans under which the Common Stock is authorized for issuance as of December 31, 2007.

	Number of Securities to be Issued Upon Exercise of Outstanding Options, Warrants and	Axer of Ou Oy War	eighted verage cise Price utstanding ptions, rants and	Number of Securities Remaining Available for Future Issuance Under Equity Compensation
Plan Category	Rights	ŀ	Rights	Plans
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders:(1)	538,850	\$	2.84	961,150
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders: ⁽²⁾	651,650	\$	6.14	0
Total	1,190,500	\$	4.65	961,150

- (1) Represents options available for grant pursuant to the Incentive Plan.
- (2) Includes options and warrants to purchase Common Stock which were granted under plans not approved by the Company s shareholders. The material features of such plans are set forth below:
 - (a) In July 2002, the Company issued to one of its lenders a warrant to purchase 50,000 shares of Common Stock at an initial exercise price of \$1.00 per share, exercisable in its entirety on the date of grant. Immediately prior to the Company s initial public offering, this option was exchanged for an option to purchase 16,181 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$2.09 per share.
 - (b) On February 8, 2005, the Company issued to its underwriters for its initial public offering options to purchase an aggregate of 180,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$7.08 per share, which options expire on February 8, 2010.
 - On February 8, 2005, the Company issued to its underwriter for its initial public offering options to purchase an aggregate of 180,000 warrants, each exercisable for one share of Common Stock. The options have an exercise price of \$.15 per warrant and, upon issuance, the warrants will have an exercise price of \$7.20 per share. The options and warrants, if issued, expire on February 8, 2010.
 - On April 26, 2005, the Company issued to a public relations firm in exchange for services rendered by the firm to the Company a warrant to purchase 25,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$6.00 per share. The warrant expired on April 26, 2008.

25

(e) On December 21, 2005, the Company issued to its placement agent for its private placement which occurred in September and October 2005 warrants to purchase an aggregate of 250,469 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of \$4.80 per share. The warrants expire on December 21, 2008.

Vote Required to Approve Amendment to Incentive Plan

The approval of the amendment to the Incentive Plan will require that the number of votes cast at the Meeting favoring the proposal with respect to the amendment to the Incentive Plan exceed the number of votes cast opposing such proposal.

Recommendation of the Board of Directors

The Board unanimously recommends that the shareholders of the Company vote **FOR** Proposal 3. Proxies solicited by Board will be voted **FOR** the approval of the amendment to the Incentive Plan unless instructions to the contrary are given.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF

CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of Common Stock as of the Record Date by (i) each shareholder who is known by the Company to own beneficially more than 5% of the Common Stock; (ii) each executive officer and director of the Company; (iii) each individual who served as the Company s Chief Executive Officer during the year ended December 31, 2007; (iv) each Named Executive Officer; and (v) all executive officers and directors of the Company as a group. All beneficial ownership information reported below is based upon publicly available information and certain additional information known to the Company.

	Common St	Common Stock(1)	
	Number of Shares		
Name of Beneficial Owner	Beneficially Owned	Percent of Class ⁽²⁾	
Ronald G. Farrell	1,708,750(3)	38.8%	
Kaizen Management, L.P. (4)	466,771 ₍₅₎	9.9%	
Charles Keathley (6)	391,500	9.3%	
James A. Verbrugge	35,000 ₍₇₎	*	
James A. Logsdon	25,000(8)	*	
L. K. Toole	25,000(9)	*	
Robert K. Mills	16,890(10)	*	
Nicolas V. Chater	50,000(11)	1.2%	
All directors and executive officers as a group (5 persons)	1.843.750(12)	40.7%	

Director of the Company

Officer of the Company

26

^{*} Less than 1% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Common Stock.

Table of Contents

- Unless otherwise noted, all of the shares shown are held by individuals or entities possessing sole voting and investment power with respect to such shares. Shares not outstanding but deemed beneficially owned by virtue of the right of a person or member of a group to acquire them within 60 days of the Record Date, are treated outstanding only when determining the amount and percentage owned by such individual or group.
- (2) In accordance with regulations of the SEC, the percentage calculations are based on 4,203,280 shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding as of the Record Date, plus shares of Common Stock which may be acquired within 60 days of the Record Date by each individual or group listed.
- (3) Includes (i) 654,576 shares of Common Stock held by R.G.F. Investments, Inc., a corporation in which Mr. Farrell is the sole shareholder, officer and director, over which shares Mr. Farrell may be deemed to have sole investment and voting power; (ii) 57,087 shares of Common Stock held by Mr. Farrell s spouse, over which shares Mr. Farrell disclaims beneficial ownership; (iii) 700,000 shares of Common Stock over which Mr. Farrell has sole voting power, but not investment power, as a result of the Voting Agreement and (iv) 200,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of an option.
- On November 19, 2008, a Schedule 13D/A was jointly filed by the following reporting persons: Kaizen Management, L.P.; Kaizen Capital, L.L.C.; Select Contrarian Value Partners, L.P. (Select Contrarian) and David W. Barry. The principal business office of such reporting persons is 4200 Montrose Blvd., Suite 510, Houston, Texas 77006.
- (5) Includes a 14% Convertible Promissory Note due 2010 which is convertible into 857,143 shares of Common Stock and a warrant which is exercisable into 156,257 shares of Common Stock. Pursuant to the terms of the note and warrant, the note may not be converted, and the warrant may not be exercised, if such conversion or exercise would result in the reporting person owning greater than 9.99% of the Common Stock.
- (6) Includes 378,000 shares of Common Stock over which Mr. Keathley exercises investment power but not voting power. Pursuant to the Voting Agreement, Mr. Keathley has granted to Mr. Farrell an irrevocable proxy to vote such shares. Mr. Keathley s address is 9017 Valley View Drive, Huntsville, Alabama 35802.
- (7) Includes 25,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of an option.
- (8) Represents 25,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of an option.
- (9) Represents 25,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of an option.
- Represents 14,286 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of a 14% Convertible Promissory Note due 2010 and 2,604 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of a warrant. Mr. Mills serves as an observer to the Board pursuant to the Director Designation Agreement discussed in the section of this Proxy Statement titled Certain Relationships and Related Transactions Director Designation Agreement.
- (11) Represents 50,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of an option.

(12)

Includes (i) 325,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of options; and (ii) 700,000 shares of Common Stock over which Mr. Farrell has sole voting power but not investment power as a result of the Voting Agreement.

SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires the Company s directors and executive officers, and all persons who beneficially own more than 10% of the outstanding shares of Common Stock (Reporting Persons), to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of the

Common Stock and other equity securities of the Company. Reporting Persons are also required to furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file. To the Company s knowledge, based solely upon a review of the copies of such forms furnished to the Company for the year ended December 31, 2007, and the information provided to the Company by Reporting Persons of the Company, no Reporting Person failed to file the forms required by Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act on a timely basis, except that Mr. Toole did not file a Form 4 due on November 13, 2007 until November 15, 2007.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Director Designation Agreement

Pursuant to the Director Designation Agreement dated October 16, 2008 and amended on November 5, 2008, between the Company and Select Contrarian, a holder of a 14% Convertible Promissory Note due 2010 issued by the Company and a beneficial owner of greater than 5% of the Common Stock (as amended, the Designation Agreement), the Company has agreed to: (i) increase the size of the Board from four (4) to five (5) members; (ii) elect one (1) person designated by Select Contrarian to fill the vacancy created by such increase (the Designee) and slate the Designee in a director class in accordance with applicable law; (iii) give Select Contrarian the right to appoint the Designee to serve on each of the committees of the Board; (iv) use its reasonable efforts to cause the Board to continue to include the Designee on the Board until the Designation Agreement terminates; and (v) give Select Contrarian the right to appoint one (1) person to attend and participate in all meetings of the Board in a non-voting, observer capacity (the Observer).

The Company is required to increase the size of the Board and elect the Designee to the Board no later than two (2) weeks after the Company s receipt of notice from Select Contrarian of its Designee, subject to certain exceptions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company is not required to make these changes to the Board unless the Designee: (i) is independent for purposes of the Nasdaq Stock Market listing standards; (ii) agrees to resign from the Board effective on the date on which the Designation Agreement terminates; and (iii) submits to the Company a written notice to such effect in connection with the Designee s election to the Board. In addition, the Company is not required to appoint the Designee to any Board committee unless the Designee possesses the qualifications to so serve as required by the Nasdaq Stock Market listing requirements, the rules and regulations of the SEC, and the provisions of the applicable committee charter. Furthermore, the Observer appointed by Select Contrarian must agree, among other things, to hold in confidence and trust and to act in a fiduciary manner in accordance with applicable law with respect to all non-public information concerning the Company which is disclosed to the Observer or of which the Observer becomes aware.

The Designee and the Observer shall each be entitled to receive the same compensation package as the Company s directors receive for their service on the Board.

The Designation Agreement became effective on November 14, 2008, upon the closing of the exchange offer described in the Company s tender offer statement on Schedule TO, initially filed with the SEC on August 20, 2008, as amended and supplemented (the Exchange Offer). The Designation Agreement will terminate at such time as (i) the Company has satisfied its obligations to Select Contrarian under its 14% Convertible Promissory Note due 2010 issued to it by the Company upon closing of the Exchange Offer or (ii) Select Contrarian no longer holds such note, whichever is earlier.

Employment Agreements

A description of the employment agreements between each of the Named Executive Officers and the Company is set forth in the section of this Proxy Statement titled Executive Compensation Employment Agreements and Post-Termination Payments.

Indebtedness of Management

Pursuant to Mr. Farrell s employment agreement with the Company, Mr. Farrell would have otherwise been entitled to receive during 2004 an aggregate bonus of \$435,000; however, in order to improve the financial position of the Company prior to its initial public offering, he agreed to forfeit \$290,000 of such bonus and accept a cash bonus of \$145,000. At the time Mr. Farrell agreed to such change in his compensation, the Company had already paid to Mr. Farrell \$245,000 with respect to his 2004 bonus. Accordingly, Mr. Farrell agreed to repay to the Company \$100,000 pursuant to the terms of a promissory note issued by Mr. Farrell to the Company dated December 31, 2004, which accrued interest at a rate of 2.48% per year and was payable on December 31, 2006. The note was paid in full in December of 2006 by tender of 45,424 shares of Common Stock, in accordance with the terms of the note.

Indemnification Agreements

The Company has entered into indemnification agreements with its directors and its Chief Executive Officer pursuant to which the Company will indemnify them to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law if they are involved or become involved or are threatened to be involved in any investigation, action, claim suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, by reason of that fact that they were or are serving as an officer or director of the Company or were or are serving at the Company s request as an agent of any other entity.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Annual Report

A copy of the Annual Report, excluding exhibits, is enclosed with this Proxy Statement. The Annual Report is not a part of the proxy soliciting material enclosed herewith. Upon receipt of a written request, the Company will, without charge, furnish any owner of the Common Stock a copy of the Annual Report, including financial statements and the footnotes thereto. Copies of exhibits to the Annual Report are also available upon specific request and payment of a reasonable charge for reproduction. Such request should be directed to the Secretary of the Company at the address indicated on the first page of this Proxy Statement.

28

Table of Contents

Other Matters

Management knows of no matters which will be presented for consideration at the Meeting other than those stated in the Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders which accompanied this Proxy Statement. However, if any other matters do properly come before the Meeting, the person or persons named in the accompanying proxy form will vote the proxy in accordance with their best judgment regarding such matters. Such person or persons will also vote the proxy in accordance with their best judgment on matters incident to the conduct of the Meeting, including any decisions to adjourn the Meeting.

Shareholder Proposals

Any and all shareholder proposals for inclusion in the proxy materials for the Company s annual meeting of shareholders to be held in 2009 must (i) comply with Rule 14a-8 promulgated under the Exchange Act, (ii) comply separately with the advance notice provisions of the Company s Bylaws, and (iii) be received by the Company, at its offices located at Royal Centre One, 11675 Great Oaks Way, Suite 120, Alpharetta, Georgia 30022, not later than December 31, 2008. Such other proposals should be addressed to the Company s Corporate Secretary at the address indicated on the first page of this Proxy Statement.

Whether or not you plan to attend the Meeting, you are urged to complete, date and sign the accompanying form of proxy and return it promptly to the Company in the enclosed postage-paid envelope. Shareholders who attend the Meeting may vote their shares personally even though they have sent in their proxies.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Ronald G. Farrell Chairman of the Board

Atlanta, Georgia

November 24, 2008

29

APPENDIX A

TRI-S SECURITY CORPORATION

CHARTER FOR THE

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

October 13, 2004

1. PURPOSE

The basic purpose of the Compensation Committee (the Committee) of the Board of Directors (the Board) of Tri-S Security Corporation, a Georgia corporation (the Company), is to review the performance and development of the Company s management in achieving corporate goals and objectives and to assure that senior executives of the Company are compensated effectively in a manner consistent with the strategy of the Company, competitive practices and the requirements of the appropriate regulatory bodies. Toward that end, the Committee will oversee, review and administer all compensation, equity and employee benefit plans and programs.

&